IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 18-0124

Linn County No. LACV087209

JERIME ERON MITCHELL and BRACKEN ANN MITCHELL,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

vs.

CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA and OFFICER LUCAS JONES,

Individually and in his official capacity as an agent and/or employee of the City of Cedar Rapids Police Department, a governmental subdivision of the CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY
HONORABLE PATRICK R. GRADY

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS' BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

WILFORD H. STONE, AT0007699

GREGORY T. USHER, AT0012812

of

LYNCH DALLAS, P.C.

526 Second Avenue SE

Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-2457

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 7, 2018, this Court granted the Joint Application for Interlocutory Appeal filed by Defendants-Appellants City of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, and Officer Lucas Jones (collectively, “Jones and the City”), regarding the November 1, 2017 Order denying Jones’ and the City’s Joint Motion for Protective Order (“First Order”) and the subsequent December 22, 2017 Ruling denying Jones’ and the City’s Rule 1.904(3) Motion to Reconsider, Enlarge, or Amend Order Denying Motion for Protective Order (“Second Order”). Both orders were entered in the Iowa District Court in Linn County by the Honorable Judge Patrick R. Grady and both ordered Jones and the City to produce certain documents with no protective order in place. This Court’s February 7, 2018 Order granted Jones’ and the City’s Application for Interlocutory Appeal of the district court’s two orders, and also stayed the district court proceedings.

As a threshold matter, Jones and the City’s Motion for Protective Order did not seek to limit the discovery rights of Plaintiffs Jerime Mitchell and Bracken Mitchell (collectively the “Mitchells”), but instead sought only to protect confidential, non-public documents by prohibiting disclosure of such documents to

parties outside the litigation. Thus, this Court’s consideration will determine whether the materials Jones and the City were ordered to produce, the peace officers’ investigative reports, are confidential under Iowa law and, therefore, are exempt from public disclosure, such that they should be produced only after entry of a protective order to prevent dissemination for any purpose other than litigation between the parties.

Jones and the City request this Court reverse the district court’s November 1, 2017 Order and its December 22, 2017 Order requiring Jones and the City to produce confidential documents under Iowa Code § 22.7 (2017) absent a protective order which prevents dissemination of those confidential records for any purpose other than legitimate litigation purposes.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 24, 2017, in Linn County Case No. LACV087209, the Mitchells filed an Original Notice and a Petition (“Petition”) bringing multiple claims against Jones and the City in connection with the officer-involved shooting incident that occurred in the early morning hours of November 1, 2016. In their Petition, the Mitchells allege state law claims in counts titled “negligence,” “assault and battery,” “intentional infliction of emotional distress,” “loss of consortium,” and “reckless willful and wanton [sic].” (App. 4-27.)

The relevant procedural posture of the appeal is as follows: following good faith efforts by the undersigned attorneys to resolve the discovery issues with opposing counsel prior to seeking court intervention, Jones and the City filed their Motion for Protective Order on July 14, 2017, along with their proposed Protective Order (“Proposed Protective Order”), and Brief. (App. 99-108.) The confidential information as to which Jones and the City sought a protective order includes medical information, personnel files, third-party communication, and information which is otherwise confidential, including “peace officers’ investigative reports.” (Id.) “Peace officers’ investigative reports” is a term defined by the Iowa Open Records Act as a confidential record under Iowa Code § 22.7 (5) (2017). In this appeal, Jones and the City believe “peace officers’ investigative reports” cover the November 1, 2016 incident and another shooting incident on October 2, 2015, involving Officer Jones, which, in turn, include audio and video recordings and transcripts, photographs and drawings, written reports and other investigative documents. (App. 116-117.) The Mitchells subsequently filed their Resistance to Jones’ and the City’s Motion for Protective Order. (App. 135-138.)

Following oral arguments, the Court issued its First Order (App. 118-123.) Without expressly granting or denying Jones’ and the City’s Motion for a Protective Order, the district court ordered Jones and the City to produce certain law enforcement “investigative reports” without any protective order in place. In so

ruling, the district court relied on *Hawk Eye v. Jackson*, 521 N.W.2d 750, 753 (Iowa 1994), where the Supreme Court used a three-part balancing test to consider whether law enforcement notes taken in connection with witness interviews should be disclosed pursuant to Iowa Code §§ 22.7 and 622.11. In the case at bar, the district court decided that certain documents falling within the scope of Jones' and the City's Motion for Protective Order do not qualify as "confidential" or non-public, stating:

[T]his Court finds that the public's right to know greatly outweighs law enforcement and the party's right to privacy for an incident that happened one year ago, has already been fully investigated internally by the police and has already been through the grand jury process with no charges brought against the officer. The alleged facts of the incident have been the subject of wide media coverage and broad public discussion. Public disclosure of these reports in a county of over 200,000 people may enhance the public discussion but should not jeopardize any party's right to a fair trial.

(App. 122.) Without issuing any protective order, the district court ordered Jones and the City to produce those documents, defining them more specifically as investigative reports, emails and other police documents "generated or filed within 96 hours of the incident." Finding those specific documents were not confidential within Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017)'s meaning, the district court made no ruling as to the confidentiality of the same types of documents generated after the 96-hour mark or solely for purposes of internal review. The district court stated:

Thus, the Court will attempt to fashion an order that allows for production and possible disclosure of reports about the

incident itself and leave for another day, determination of the issue with regard to personnel records, medical records, the internal police investigation and other materials that fall outside the current order. See Iowa Code §§ 22.7 (11) and 622.10.

(Id.) The district court concluded the First Order by summarizing that Jones and the City were required to produce:

[A]ny requested law enforcement investigative reports, including electronic recordings or telephone communications generated by or in the possession of a defendant or a police officer acting in the scope of his or her duties that were compiled as a result of the reporter's own observation or investigation, including interviews or conversations with law enforcement at the scene of the incident that resulted in the injuries to Plaintiff Jerime Mitchell or lay witnesses to that event. *The order covers any investigative reports or electronic communication generated or filed within 96 hours of the incident, but does not apply to reports or memorandum generated solely for the purposes of a police internal review of the incident.*

(Id.) (emphasis added).

On November 13, 2017, Jones and the City filed their Joint Rule 1.904(3) Motion, in which they requested the district court reconsider and amend its First Order. (App. 124-134.) On November 27, 2017, the Mitchells filed their Resistance to Jones' and the City's 1.904(3) Motion. (App. 135-138.) December 1, 2017 Defendants' filed their Joint Reply. (App. 139-147.)

The district court entered the Second Order December 22, 2017, denying Jones' and the City's 1.904(3) Motion and ordering the documents described in the

First Order be produced as previously ordered. (App. 148-153.) In so ordering, the district court relied on the reasoning of its First Order and went further by providing its own interpretation of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017):

The Court concludes there is some ambiguity in § 22.7(5). The Court construes the statute as providing that peace officers' investigative reports, privileged records or information specified in Iowa Code § 80G.2 are to be kept confidential, but then goes on to set forth its own sort of "balancing test" language to certain information. The section creates its own exception to confidentiality, by stating that "the date, time, specific location, and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding a crime or incident shall not be kept confidential under this section, except in those unusual circumstances where disclosure would plainly and seriously jeopardize an investigation or pose a clear and present danger to the safety of an individual." Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). In this case, there is no apparent ongoing investigation with respect to the records at issue, and there has been no allegation that any individual's safety will be impaired as a result of disclosure of the records. The Court finds that the temporal limits of its order allows disclosure of what the Court finds [to be] documents concerning, "immediate facts and circumstances surrounding a crime or incident."

(App. 152.)

January 18, 2018, Jones and the City filed their Joint Application for Interlocutory Appeal, which was granted February 7, 2018. (App. 154-297; 298-299.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews a district court's discovery ruling for abuse of discretion. *Mediacom Iowa L.L.C. v. Inc. City of Spencer*, 682 N.W.2d 62, 66 (Iowa

2004). “A reversal of a discovery ruling is warranted when the grounds underlying a district court order are clearly unreasonable or untenable. A ruling based on an erroneous interpretation of a discovery rule can constitute an abuse of discretion.” *Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Am. Indus. Refrigeration, Inc.*, 690 N.W.2d 38, 43 (Iowa 2004) (quoting *Exotica Botanicals, Inc. v. Terra Int’l, Inc.*, 612 N.W.2d 801, 804 (Iowa 2000)). However, the district court decision is also based upon the statutory interpretation of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) concerning peace officers’ investigative reports, and the Supreme Court has held that “[t]o the extent [the court] . . . engages in statutory interpretation, [its] review is for correction of errors at law.” *Willard v. State*, 893 N.W.2d 52, 58 (Iowa 2017). Thus, the appellate court in this case is not bound by “either the legal conclusions or application of legal principles reached by the district court.” *Rucker v. Taylor*, 828 N.W.2d 595, 599 (Iowa 2013) (citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING JONES AND THE CITY TO PRODUCE THE INVESTIGATIVE REPORTS AND OTHER CEDAR RAPIDS POLICE DEPARTMENT MATERIALS WITHOUT FIRST ENTERING A PROTECTIVE ORDER TO PRESERVE THE DOCUMENTS’ CONFIDENTIALITY.

A. The District Court Should Have Found the Documents Ordered to be Produced by Jones and the City Were Protected From Disclosure under Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017).

Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) provides in relevant part that:

The following records shall be kept confidential, unless otherwise ordered by a court, by the lawful custodian of the records, or by another person duly authorized to release such information: . . . [p]eace officers' investigative reports, privileged records or information specified in section 80G.2, and specific portions of electronic mail and telephone billing records of law enforcement agencies if that information is part of an ongoing investigation, except where disclosure is authorized elsewhere in this Code. However, the date, time, specific location, and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding a crime or incident shall not be kept confidential under this section, except in those unusual circumstances where disclosure would plainly and seriously jeopardize an investigation or pose a clear and present danger to the safety of an individual. Specific portions of electronic mail and telephone billing records may only be kept confidential under this subsection if the length of time prescribed for commencement of prosecution or the finding of an indictment or information under the statute of limitations applicable to the crime that is under investigation has not expired.

Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017).

The Iowa Supreme Court has held clearly that with respect to Iowa Code § 22.7 (2017), it no longer uses a balancing test like the one used in *Hawk Eye* (and relied upon by the district court) because “the plain language of the statute supports the exemption.” *Am. Civil Liberties Union Found. of Iowa, Inc. v. Records Custodian, Atlantic Comm. Sch. Dist.*, 818 N.W.2d 231 (Iowa 2012). This court observed that Iowa Code § 22.7 (2017) “lists specific categories of records that must be kept confidential by those responsible for keeping records.” *Id.*, at 236 (emphasis

added). In fact, the Supreme Court stated a balancing test's application "undermines the categorical determination of the legislature and rewrites the statute." *Id.*

Since *Atlantic*, Iowa Courts have declined to apply the balancing test to material that is confidential under Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). See, e.g., *Allen v. Iowa Dept. of Pub. Safety*, Case No. EQCE074161 (Polk County. Dist. Ct. Mar. 7, 2014 (App. 281-289.) ("If the plain language of a statutory exclusion in Iowa Code § 22.7 (2017) supports an exemption from disclosure for particular records, it is unnecessary for courts to apply a balancing test to determine whether the records should be disclosed.") (citing *Atlantic Comm. Sch. Dist.*, 818 N.W.2d at 231). Additionally, the Iowa Public Information Board, which is the administrative agency tasked with fielding public records complaints, has also applied the *Atlantic* holding to eliminate the balancing test's requirement when a record fits squarely into any of the Iowa Code § 22.7 exemptions. See, e.g., *In the Matter of Cali Smith and City of Nevada Police Dept.*, Complaint No. 14 FC:0096 (Jan. 9, 2015). (App. 290-291; Attachment to Defendants' December 1, 2017 Joint Reply to Plaintiffs' Resistance to Defendants' 1.904(3) Motion.)

Taken together, the above authority establishes that, when determining whether a record is confidential under Iowa Code § 22.7 (2017), the inquiry ends upon a finding that the record in question falls into a categorical exemption under the law. It is only when the record does not fit into a categorical exemption that the

court applies any balancing test. See *Atlantic Comm. Sch. Dist.*, 818 N.W.2d at 233; see also *Allen*, Case No. EQCE074161 (Polk County Dist. Ct. Mar. 7, 2014). (App. 281-289.)

In its November 1, 2017 Order, the district court specifically agreed that the documents and records at issue (i.e., police officer investigative reports) are clearly confidential public records under Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). (App. 122.) The inquiry as to disclosure, therefore, should end because the documents in question fall within the statutory exemption defined by the unambiguous language of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). Instead, the district court incorrectly applied a balancing test to those records to determine whether a protective order should govern the production of the documents and records, ultimately concluding that a protective order was not necessary with respect to the “investigative reports or electronic communication generated or filed within 96 hours of the incident.” (Id.) The district court did so after finding that Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) is ambiguous and creates a balancing test of sorts “for certain information,” that being the “date, time, specific location and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding a crime or incident” or what one might call the basic information of the “who, what, when and where” of an incident. But as the district court itself acknowledges by using the term “certain information,” the Legislature created a balancing test only for the basic information

of a crime or incident, not for the documents made confidential by the first sentence of § 22.7(5) (2017).

In addition to ruling that peace officers' investigative reports are categorically confidential, the Iowa Supreme Court and the Iowa Court of Appeals have applied Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) and the term "investigative reports" broadly so as "to encompass not only reports but also other material and evidence incorporated into reports." *Neer v. State*, 2011 WL 662725 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 23, 2011) (holding that the video recording, use of force reports, and pursuit reports were confidential as part of the peace officers' investigative report); *see also AFSCME/Iowa Council 61 v. Iowa Dept. of Pub. Safety*, 434 N.W.2d 401, 403 (Iowa 1988) (holding that a blood analysis lab report made part of an investigation into a crime was part of the peace officers' investigative report).

There is no dispute that Jones and the City have made public the "date, time, specific location and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding" the November 1, 2016, incident which gave rise to this litigation (and also the October 20, 2015, shooting incident). Indeed, that information has been widely disseminated in public. Jones and the City do not even seek to prevent the Mitchells from having the peace officers' investigative reports. Rather, Jones and the City seek only to preserve those documents' confidentiality by means of a protective order that prevents the parties from disseminating them for any purpose other than the litigation

itself. In part, at least, this is to protect those who willingly gave the police their ear and eye witness accounts of the incident from being contacted by the media or others who are not subject to the court's control. A protective order extending to all peace officers' investigative reports, as Iowa law contemplates, would permit the parties in this case to advance the merits of the Mitchells' claims as well as Jones' and the City's defenses without allowing the case to be tried in the court of public opinion.

It is also important to note that the Mitchells have never articulated how public dissemination of confidential peace officers' investigative reports—outside of litigation—would advance the merits of their claims. It would be contrary to Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) to enable such public dissemination, as well as potentially prejudicial to the parties' ability to seat an impartial jury.

In light of the *Atlantic* case, it is now clear that Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) is distinct in certain material respects from Iowa Code § 622.11 (2017), providing that “a public officer cannot be examined as to communications made to a public officer in official confidence when the public interest would suffer by the disclosure.” Iowa Code § 622.11 (2017). In *Hawk Eye*, the Court held at that time when determining whether a record should be disclosed pursuant to Iowa Code §§ 22.7(5) (2017) or 622.11 (2017), a public official claiming privilege under these laws must meet a three-part test before the records are disclosed. *Hawk Eye v. Jackson*, 521 N.W.2d 750, 753 (Iowa 1994). The Court noted the legislative purpose of the two provisions

is similar with respect to DCI files. While Iowa Code § 622.11 (2017) and the 1994 *Hawk Eye* case may be instructive for certain purposes, they are no longer helpful to this case because Jones' and the City's Motion for Protective Order does not involve an evidentiary question about the examination of a public officer, as might be the case during a deposition, hearing or trial, but rather the public dissemination of peace officers' investigative reports which are confidential and non-public under Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). *Atlantic* now already governs the analysis under the public records laws, quite apart from *Hawk Eye* and Iowa Code Chapter 622 (2017).

Thus, the district court's use of a balancing test in this case is contrary to the Iowa Supreme Court's prior 2012 ruling in *Atlantic* and the plain language of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017). Therefore, this Court should find that the district court abused its discretion in ordering Jones and the City to produce the documents in question without first entering a protective order preserving the confidentiality of those documents.

B. The District Court Erred in Interpreting the Language of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) to Allow for the Unprotected Production of Investigative Reports and Related Materials.

In its November 1, 2017 Order, the district court offered an erroneous interpretation of Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (2017) by holding that in order to preserve the confidentiality of documents via protective order, Jones and the City had to show the peace officers' investigative reports in question were part of an ongoing

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