IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 18-0124 Linn County No. LACV087209

JERIME ERON MITCHELL and BRACKEN ANN MITCHELL,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA and OFFICER LUCAS JONES,

Individually and in his official capacity as an agent and/or employee of the City of Cedar Rapids Police Department, a governmental subdivision of the CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA.

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEL FROM THE IWOA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY HONORABLE PATRICK R. GRADY

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

/s/ Pressley Henningsen

/s/ Laura Seelau

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS TO PRODUCE POLICE INVESTIGATIVE REPORTS WITHOUT A PROTECTIVE ORDER IN PLACE.
 - a. IOWA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.504 PROVIDES THE PROPER FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYSIS OF THIS DISCOVERY DISPUTE

The threshold question before this Court is whether the District Court properly denied Defendants-Appellants' Motion for a Protective Order. Defendants-Appellants' incorrectly give priority to analysis of this case under Iowa Code § 22.7. *Mediacom*, 682 N.W.2d at 69. In *Mediacom*, the Court was asked to address whether information alleged to constitute trade secrets under § 22.7(11) was discoverable or subject to a protective order. The Court, in ordering discovery without a protective order noted:

Section 22.7 would not automatically dictate absolute protection of the information sought through discovery. Iowa Code chapter 22 pertains to parties seeking access to government documents and ordinarily has no application to discovery of such information in litigation. Plaintiff is not seeking access to government documents as a member of the general public; it is seeking access to such records as a plaintiff in litigation with a governmental entity....[s]ection 22.7 does not trump our discovery rules.

Mediacom, 682 N.W.2d at 69. (emphasis added).

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.504 thus provides the framework for analysis. Rule 1.504 provides that a court may grant a protective order upon a showing of good cause in order to protect a party or person from "annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense." The party seeking the protective order bears the burden of establishing the basis for a protective order. *Id.* at 68.

i. DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE POLICE INVESTIGATIVE REPORTS ARE "CONFIDENTIAL"

Defendants-Appellants' request for a protective order rests on their claim that the requested documents are confidential under Iowa Open Records Act and thus deserving of protection. Where the protective order is motivated by a need to protect confidential information, the Court in *Mediacom* set forth a two part test: first, the information subject to the protective order must actually be confidential; and second, there must be "good cause" to grant the protective order. *Id.* at 67-68.

Defendants-Appellants' argument that the police investigative reports constitute confidential information rests on Iowa Code § 22.7(5). Chapter 22 codifies Iowa's Open Records Act and provides for a broad right of all persons to examine public documents while enumerating specific categories of documents that are exempt from disclosure. *See* I.C.A. § 22.2(1) (2015).

In passing the Open Records Act, the Iowa Legislature "made the decision to open Iowa's public records." *American Civil Liberties Union Foundation of Iowa, Inc. v. Records Custodian, Atlantic Comm. Sch. Dist.*, 818 N.W.2d 231, 232 (Iowa 2012). The Act allows "public examination of government records to ensure the government's activities are more transparent to the public it represents" and "to remedy unnecessary secrecy in conducting

the public's business." *Id*. The goal of disclosure enshrined in the Act is "to facilitate public scrutiny of the conduct of public officers." *Id*. In order to fulfill these purposes this Court has "determined that the general assembly intended that we broadly interpret the disclosure requirement, but narrowly interpret the confidentiality exceptions." *Id*. at 233.

Defendants-Appellants rely primarily on the confidentiality exception found in §22.7(5) (2017):

The following public records shall be kept confidential, unless otherwise ordered by a court, by the lawful custodian of the records, or by another person duly authorized to release such information:

. . .

Peace officers' investigative reports, privileged records or information specified in section 80G.2, and specific portions of electronic mail and telephone billing records of law enforcement agencies if that information is part of an ongoing investigation, except where disclosure is authorized elsewhere in this Code. However, the date, time, specific location, and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding a crime or incident shall not be kept confidential under this section, except in those unusual circumstances where disclosure would plainly and seriously jeopardize an investigation or pose a clear and present danger to the safety of an individual. Specific portions of electronic mail and telephone billing records may only be kept confidential under this subsection if the length of time prescribed for commencement of prosecution or the finding of an indictment or information under the statute of limitations applicable to the crime that is under investigation has not expired.

I.C.A. §22.7(5) (2017) (emphasis added).

1. THE SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT OF HAWK EYE V. JACKSON PROVIDES THE PROPER FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYSIS OF IOWA CODE SECTION 22.7(5).

The parties disagree as to the proper framework for interpreting section 22.7(5). Plaintiffs-Appellees argue that *Hawk Eye v. Jackson* controls; Defendants-Appellants argue that *Atlantic* overturned *Hawk Eye* and thus controls. *Atlantic*, 818 N.W.2d 231; *Hawk Eye v. Jackson*, 521 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1994).

In 1994 the Supreme Court had occasion to analyze the overlap between discovery in civil litigation and Iowa Code § 22.7(5) in *Hawk Eye v. Jackson*, 521 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 1994).

The facts of *Hawk Eye* are nearly identical to the facts at hand here: a local news reporter was investigating allegations of misconduct of a particular peace officer within the national context of the Rodney King police brutality case. *Hawk Eye*, 521 N.W.2d at 751. The alleged misconduct was the subject of civil litigation. *Id*. The reporter requested, through Iowa's Open Records Act, materials related to a closed internal investigation of the officer's wrongdoing. *Id*. at 752. The county attorney resisted on the basis of both Iowa Code § 22.7(5) (1994) and Iowa Code § 622.11. *Id*. at 752. The primary difference between the facts in *Hawk Eye* and this case is that *Hawk Eye*

involved an actual public records request; the setting of this case is within the framework of protective orders in discovery.

Upon holding that sections 22.7(5) and 622.11 serve essentially the same legislative purpose, the Court in *Hawk Eye* employed a balancing test to determine if the requested records were subject to disclosure under then-existing section 22.7(5) or section 622.11. *Id.* at 753. The Court held that an official claiming privilege under one of these statutory provisions must satisfy a three-part test: "(1) a public officer is being examined; (2) the communication was made in official confidence; and (3) the public interest would suffer by disclosure." *Hawk Eye*, 521 N.W.2d at 753. The Court's focus was on the third prong of weighing the public harm of disclosure versus the public good. *Id*.

Ultimately the Court in *Hawk Eye* found the public good of disclosure outweighed the public harm and ordered disclosure of the investigative file. *Id.* at 754. Key to the Court's holding were the facts that: there were no confidential informants involved; there was no ongoing investigation; there were no concrete concerns of intimidation or retaliation against witnesses; and there were no concerns of implicating innocent suspects as there was only one investigative target. *Id.* at 753.

The use of the balancing test in *Hawk Eye* to determine whether investigatory files should be disclosed under § 22.7(5) was first employed by this Court almost thirty-five (35) years ago in *State ex. rel. Shanahan v. Iowa Dist. Court For Iowa County*, 356 N.W.2d 523 (Iowa 1984). Since that time, this Court has maintained that "it is appropriate for the court to consider the nature of the investigation and whether it is continuing or completed." *Shannon by Shannon v. Hansen*, 469 N.W.2d 412, 415 (Iowa 1991).

Eighteen years after *Hawk Eye* was decided, this Court issued the decision in *ACLU Found. Of Iowa, Inc. v. Records Custodian, Atlantic Community School District*, 818 N.W.2d 231 (Iowa 2012). *Atlantic* involved a petition filed by the American Civil Liberties Union Foundation of Iowa, Inc., seeking an injunction ordering the Atlantic Community School District to comply with a request for information made under Iowa's Open Records Act. *Atlantic*, 818 N.W.2d at 232. The records sought related to the specific discipline imposed on two school employees who conducted a "locker room strip search" on five female students at school. *Id*.

Similar to *Hawk Eye*, the dispute in *Atlantic* arose following a public records request rather than in the context of discovery. *Id*. Unlike the Court in *Hawk Eye*, the Court in *Atlantic* was tasked not with analyzing section 22.7(5), but rather 22.7(11), which at the time exempted the following from disclosure

under the Open Records Act: "Personal information in *confidential personnel records* of public bodies including but not limited to cities, boards of supervisors and school districts." I.C.A. § 22.7(11) (2009) (emphasis added).

In reaching the conclusion that these records were confidential, this Court outlined the history of prior cases that directly involved the issue of public dissemination of records under §22.7(11), and stated:

"In summary, to determine if requested information is exempt under 22.7(11), we must determine whether the information fits into the category of "[p]ersonal information in confidential personnel records." We do this by looking at the language of the statute, our prior case law, and case law from other states. If we conclude the information fits into this category, then our inquiry ends. If it does not, we will then apply the balancing test under our present analytical framework."

Atlantic, 818 N.W.2d at 235.

In reviewing prior case law, the Court made no references to the *Hawk Eye* ruling on section 22.7(5). This Court noted that the ACLU of Iowa had requested records or information describing the discipline imposed on the two employees. *Id.* at 235. Accordingly, the Court was first required to determine whether Iowa Code § 22.7(11) categorized the requested information as "[p]ersonal information in confidential personnel records." *Id.*

The Court found the documents at issue fell within that category and relied on its earlier holding in *Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Des*

Moines Register & Tribune Co., 487 N.W.2d 666 (Iowa 1992), in which the Court determined that performance evaluations were exempt from disclosure. Specifically, the Court noted that these records were akin to in-house job performance records which the Court in *Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist.* had previously found were exempt from disclosure under §22.7(11) without performing a balancing test. *Atlantic*, 818 N.W.2d at 235-36. On that basis, the Court held that the requested records were exempt from disclosure. *Id.* at 235.

Defendants-Appellants argue that *Atlantic* overturned *Hawk Eye* and therefore provides the framework for analysis. *Atlantic*, however, makes no reference to the precedent in *Hawk Eye*. The Court in *Atlantic* does not state that it is overturning prior precedent to the contrary. *Atlantic* dealt with section 22.7(11) and not section 22.7(5), the provision at issue in this case. Additionally, § 22.7(11) explicitly states that personnel records are "confidential". *See* I.C.A. §22.7(11) (2009) ("Personal information in *confidential personnel records...*") (emphasis added). Such language does not exist in section 22.7(5). Thus, this Court should take into account this wording of §22.7(11). *See State v. Ahitow*, 544 N.W.2d 270, 273 (Iowa 1996) ("We do not interpret statutes in a way that makes portions of them irrelevant or redundant.").

Defendants-Appellants argue that *Atlantic* has been followed by the Polk County District Court in *Allen v. Iowa Dept. of Public Safety*. Importantly, *Allen* involved a request under § 22.7(5) for records relating to *unsolved homicides. See Allen v. Iowa Dept. of Public Safety*, Case No. EQC074161 (Polk County Dist. Ct. Mar. 7, 2014). Although the district court determined that *Atlantic* should apply, it went on to find that the records were confidential given the ongoing investigations, and then further went on to apply the balancing test. *Id*.

Additionally, Defendants assert the Iowa Public Information Board has followed the holding in *Allen*, and found that the language "if that information is related to an ongoing investigation" of §22.7(5) is irrelevant when it comes to the confidentiality of police investigative reports. *In the Matter of Cali Smith and City of Nevada Police Dept.*, Complaint No. 14 FC:0096 (Jan. 9, 2015). However, this reasoning is contrary to that of the Iowa Court of Appeals in *State v. Tekippe*, 771 N.W.2d 653, No. 07-1840, 2009 WL 1492660 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009). In *Tekippe*, the Iowa Court of Appeals held that information that is covered by §22.7(5) is confidential so long as it is a part of "*an ongoing investigation*." No. 07-1840, 2009 WL 1492660, at *3 (emphasis added).

Atlantic does not operate to overturn Hawk Eye, the case most on-point in the present controversy. The proper framework for analysis is the public good/public harm balancing test employed in Hawk Eye. 521 N.W.2d at 753.

Finally, Defendants-Appellants cannot ignore the prefatory language of section 22.7 which states, "The following public records shall be kept confidential, unless otherwise ordered by a court". I.C.A. §22.7 (2017).

"Legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion of statutory terms." Ovens Feed & Supply, Inc. v. Primebank, 808 N.W.2d 186, 193 (Iowa 2011); see also Chesnut v. Montgomery, 307 F.3d 698, 701-02 (8th Cir. 2002) ("[W]here Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and purposefully in the disparate inclusion or exclusion"). The legislature incorporated the prefatory clause, "unless otherwise ordered by a court" into § 22.7, which indicates that the following provisions provide a qualified, not absolute, privilege. Hawk Eye, 521 N.W.2d at 753. "When interpreting the meaning of the statute, the courts give effect to all words in the statute unless no other construction is reasonably possible." State v. Osmundson, 546 N.W.2d 907, 910 (Iowa 1996). By incorporating this language into section 22.7, the legislature granted to the judiciary the authority to order disclosure, even if an enumerated exemption

is met. *See Brown v. Iowa Legislative Council*, 490 N.W.2d 551, 554 (Iowa 1992) (noting that "the legislature placed an escape clause in the public records law.")

As stated above, Iowa Code § 22.7 creates a qualified immunity such that the courts retain the discretion to order records be released that are confidential under the statute. *Hawk Eye*, 521 N.W.2d at 753. Specifically, §22.7 states, in relevant part, "[t]he following public records shall be kept confidential, *unless otherwise ordered by a court*, by the lawful custodian of the records, or by any other person duly organized to release such information." (emphasis added). Interpreting the statute in *Simington v. Banwart*, the court stated:

"[we] do not view the 'unless otherwise ordered by a court" language in section 22.7 as authority for a court to order release of an otherwise confidential public record whenever it thinks that would be fair and appropriate. Rather, we believe this language is meant to provide an escape valve when strict application of literal language of the exemption would undermine the exemption itself... or some other provision of law."

Simington v. Banwart, 786 N.W.2d 520, No. 09-1561, 2010 WL 2089348, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010).

Furthermore, this Court has stated that the "otherwise ordered" language is "an escape clause" that can be used by the district court to order disclosure where a fundamental right was at issue. *Brown*, 490 N.W.2d at 554.

a. UNDER THE HAWK EYE BALANCING TEST, THE PUBLIC GOOD OF DISCLOSURE OUTWEIGHTS THE PUBLIC HARM SUCH THAT THE RECORDS ARE NOT CONFIDENTIAL.

Similar to *Hawk Eye*, here the public good of disclosure outweighs the risk of harm to the public. In this case, the investigation is closed; there are no confidential informants; there are no alleged concerns of intimidation or retaliation against witnesses; there are no alleged concerns of implicating innocent suspects to a criminal investigation. As the Court in *Hawk Eye* held: "There can be little doubt that allegations of leniency or cover-up with respect to the disciplining of those sworn to enforce the law are matters of great public concern." *Hawk Eye*, 521 N.W.2d at 754.

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